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HISTORY OF SHIBDEN HALL

[CONTINUED FROM VOL. IL, ». 149.]

—— ,.'?;L‘"
The Waterhouse Fg.*mily'.
[‘IT’Y JOHN ——I-J_s._mhm M.Al]
3rd oc'nTm o,
' — | I
15831508,

The history of the hall was brought down in my
last paper to the year 1583.4, when, on the 23rd day
of January of that year, Master John Waterhouse
departed this life. Ha was duly succeeded by, his
eldest eon, Robert, then over 38 years of age, ao-
cording to his father's P.M. Inquisition, but s ho
was, we know, born in July, 1544, he was really
over 39. !

Robert, the now owner, was a bal.rri?bar of the
Inner Temple, and, probably, by this time, elio g -
Bencher thereof, and, doubtless ‘ere thid, hed been
placed upon the Commission of tHe, Peace. We -
know, at any rate, that either at thid date or la.teﬁ
he was a county magistrate, '

Four years before his father's death,' he ‘had
entered into the bonds of holy matrimony with
Jane Waterton, daughter of Thomas Waterton,
Eaqre., of Walton Hall, near Wakefleld, and they
had been married on the 11t April, 1580, at'
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Wraghy Church, Her mother was Beatrix, daughter
of Edward Restwould, of the Vache, Bucks. When
Robert suceceded to Shibden Hall he and his wife
had alveady two sons and one daughter. Both of
the sona, as their father, in certain notes wrtten by
Nimself tells, were horn at Shibden Hall. So that
it would appear ho was living at the hall, part of the
tinme, at any rate, before his {ather’s death. Mr.
Waterhouse himself thus records these births:—

« Rdward Waterhous, cldest sonn of Robert
Waterhous, of Shibden, was borne, at Shibden
aforesaid, the Nenteenthe day of June, being Saint
Garvas Davy, in the thre and twentythre yearo of vo
reigne of our Soveringe Ladye, Quenc Rlizabeth,
about thro of the cloke in the morninge, 1581,

% John Waterhouse. sccond sone of  ye o said
Noboert Waterholise, was borme at Shibden alore-
said, the fourtenthe day of July, in the four and
{wentyth yeare of 3o reizne of our said Soverigne
ladye, Quene Flizabeth, nbout nene (sic) of the cloke
in the night, 1582, who dyed in July, 1584.”

‘Jane the daushter was born at York, on the bth
December, 1583, and was baptized at St Michnel.
le-Belfrey’s in that city. The christenings of
Edward and of John Waterhouse are recorded in
our Parish Church registers, and that of Fane, tho
daughter, in the baptismal register of St. Michacl-
le-Belfrey’s, York.

They run as follows:—

« Bdward, filine Roberti Waterhouse de Shipden,
gent.,”” 26th June, 1561,

« John, son of Robert Waterhounse, of Shipden,-
gent,,”” 15th July, 1852.

“ Jane Wattervhouse, daughter to the Right Wor-
ehipful Mz, Watterhouse, was baptized the 8th day
'of December ” [1583].

There is a splendid shield of arms blazoned in
the glass of tho hall window at Shibden, in which
are impaled tho arms of Waterhouse and Waterton,

This has been finely photographed for us by Mr.
Kendall. These arms of Robert and of Jane, his
wife, were, of course, placed here by the new
owner.

It may not be amiss now to say a word or two
about the families with which Mr. Waterhouse’s
wife, Jane Waterhouse, was connected.
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Mrs. Waterhouse had two sisters, Agnes and
Frances Waterton, of whom Agnes married,as his
sccond wife—his first being Bridget, daughter of
Sir Francis Fpirfax—Sr John Cotton Gargrave, of
Nostell, only surviving son and heir of 8ir Thomas
iargrave of that ilk, Vice-president of Queen
Elizabeth’s Council in the North, who did vood ser-
vice to Her Majesty in the suprression of the rising
of the Earis in 1569. Sir Cotton, the son of Mrs.
Waterhouse’s brother-in-law, did not posscss the
talents and ability of his father. He scems to have
taken little part in county affairs beyond eerving
the office of High Sheriff in the yrar 1583, His son
--sad to say—Thomas Gargrave, nephew of Mrs.
Waterhouse, was tried and executed dt 'York for
the murder of his servant. |

The other sister of Mrs Waterhouse, iFrmrlcir:.s,
married, firsk, Mr. Morris Vane, Dut at
this date was the wife ‘of Mr. John
West, of Durghwallis, Alrs. Waterhousce’s ‘aupt,
Elizabeth , Waterton, was wedded | to Edward
Perey, and  their second son  wgs Thomas
Peroy, auditor to the 9th Earl of North-
umberland, and one of the band of ‘gentlemen pen-
sioners of the court. He is believed to have been—
and there seems no reason to doubt it—the Thomas
Percy who was summoned to London, in the 'first
instance of the conception of Gunpowder Plot, by
Robert Cateshy, to whom the original contrivance
of the Plot is usnally atiributed, (Coll. Top ot
Gen, I, 60.) ' |

So Mrs. Watorhouse, wife of Robert, was, it
SCOINS, : - .

FIRST COUSIN TO THOMAS PERCY,II THE
GUNPOWDER CONSPIRATOR,

so active in cndeavouring to end rather than to
mend the House of Lords.

| .
Mr. Robert Waterhouse’s first care, apparently,
on eucceeding to Shibden Hall, was to erect in the
north * quire,” otherwise Rokeby Chapel, in our
Parish Church, a * fair monument,’ aa Dodsworth,
the old antiquary, who visited the church on the
5th April, 1619, describes i, to hisz _father's-
memory. This bore the inseription: * Here lyeth
the body of John Waterhouse, of Shibden, esguire,
who departed the fifth day of January, Anno
Domini, 1583[4]. ITumanius ecst vitam deridere
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quam deplorare.”” It is more manly to deride
life than to deplore it.

This rather reminde one of the irreverent epitaph
in Westminster Abbey:

*‘ This life’s o jest, and all things show it,
I thought so once, but now I know it.”

Dodsworth seems to have mado a mistake in his
reading of the day of the month, for we know that
Mr. John Waterhouse died on the 23rd, and weas
buried on the 25ih of January. The monument
was appareunily an altar tomb, and a rough sketch
of it = given v Wat<on's Ilistory, taken from n
drawing mude, he savs, by Di. Johnson [not the
dictionary man]. Ou the top of the tomb lay the
figure of a man in armounr, holding on lis breast
i shickd, on which were quartered the erms of
Waterhouse, with those of Bosvile, his wife’s
family.

On onc side of hiz head also were on a shield
the arms of Waterhouse; on the other the coats of
Waterhouse and Savile quartered; on one side of
the fect Watcrhouse-cum-Savile impaled with Bos-
vile, and on the other Waterhouss quartered with
Bosvile. At the head of tho tomb, moreover, wero
the same arms as those carvod on the figure's
breast, and a scroll bearing the motto: * Virtus
vinelt omnia.” This fair tomb, alaa! was removed
in 1700, and seemingly afterwards destroyed when
staira were made to the north gallery,

Regarding another Waterhouse tomd that used
to sband in the North Chapel, Mr. Watson, by-the-
bye—and it may not be out of place to note the
faot here—has aceused Wright of an error which
he did not make, and, in doing so, the not by any
means infallible Watson has committed one of his
own. Wright quite corrertly—as Mr. Crossley has
pointed out—gives the name of Gregory Water-
house to the figure of this other man in armour,
for which Watson substitutes Bryan, * The inscrip-
tion on this tomb ran:—* Hero lyeth the body of
Gregory (not Boyan, dear Mr. Watson) Water-
house, of Halyfax, gentleman, which departed this
life the 14 day of October in the year of our Lord

) [Note.]
* * Halifa: Parish Church Inseviptions,” by E. W,
Crossley.
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God, 1589,” followed by the same oynical ingerip-
tion as shat on John Waterhouse’s tomb, viz:—
“ Humanius est derideré vitam quam deplorare,’

The parish Register of Burials teil us that < Mr.
Gregory Waterhousc do' Hulyfax, gent.,” was
buried in the church on the 9tk Oct., 1589. Gregory
was brother of John, and uncle of the new owner
of Shibden Hall—-My. Robert Waterhouse—and he
resided at Siddal 'There was no one of the name
of Bryun Waterhouse, a¢ this date, in the main.
Waterhouso funily. _ ! .

Mr. Robert Watcerhouse, of Shibden, inlt.hf: Yyear
1584-5 was, we find, eleeted M.P, for Aldborough,
near Boroughbridge, by the frecholders there. Thig
borough received the privilege of sending repre-
sentatives to Parliament n the Jast year of Queen
Mary—1558—bhut lost its electoral franchise under
the Reform Bill of 1832, Tl baiiff ofithe town
used to be returning officer, and the voters were all
those who paid * scot and lot,” or, as we should now
say were ratfpayers.

Why Waterhouse should have been elected for

this constituency is not evident. but David Water-
house, his brother, in after years,succeeded him.

Perhaps Aldborough’s M. 12, Jind a hand in or gave °

a vote for the sanctioning of the formation of an
Association to proteet the Qeen, Elizabeth’s life,
4 measuro to which arliament Eave great aiten-
tion in 1584, J |

Writing, on the 30th November, 1584, td Sir
Yvancis Walsinghani, the Earl of Huntingfion, then
President of the Council of the North, mentfons his
having * received the copY of the inatrument of
assoctarion, for the preservation of' Her Majesty’s
pereon,” and that he had * made divers gentlemen
of this country, acquainted therewith, and so from
hand to hand it was made known in all parts of
this shire.” He states further that Besides 300 or
more  gontlemen, who had volunteered to bo
admitted into this “ honourable society, divers
other gentlenion who had not come o him at York,
in their several wapentakes and magisterial divi-
sions had sealed, subscribed, and sworn thereunto,
and he did engross the said instrument in parch-
ment, and admitted thereunto such of the meaner
sort of gentlemen end of the principal freeholders,
und clothiers about them, as did of themselves suo
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to be accepted into that socieby. So that, especially
about Halifnx, \Wakeficld, and Bradiord, a great
number of that sort have realed, subscribed, and
sworn therounto to the nember of 5,300 men,”” be-
sides the said gentlemen and tho Corporations of
York and other places,

Doubtless, Mr, Waterhouse, being, as he was, an
M.P. and a J.P.,, was onc of thoso gentlemen whao
interested themsnlves in this matter. Halilax, af
this time, wae noted for its loyalty to the reigning
Queen, and Protestant cause, and, in this very
year_had been commended to Sir Francis Walsing-
ham by the Archbishop of York as being *‘ a good
mneople and well deserve to bo considered.” For
this reason, as they are very desirous that markets
and fairs should be held in their town, he
earnestly commends their cause to Walsingham’s
consideration. '

MARKETS AND FAIRS.

In Edwin Sandy’s (Archibishop of York) letter wo
onght to notice that he speaks, in his com-
mendation. of the Iulifux people, of their being
“ very desirons that markets and fairs should be
field in their towt,” and ho carnostly commends
their aause to Sir Framdia Walsingham's considera-
tion, Whether this was a wish or not of the in-
Labitants, we know for cortain that it was desired
by Mr. Waterhouse that letters patent should bo
granteq to him for taking the profits, in the shape
of tolls, ete., arising from such markets and fairs.
The foHowing correspondence shat passed, at this
time, on this subject is, I think, of suflicient interest
to be introduded here. It is to be found im tho
‘“ Egerton Papers,” aund was juet referred to but
not published by the late Mr. Walker in his * OQur
Local Portfolio’ contributions to the * Halifax
Guardian” many years ago.

{Endorsed by Lord Ellcsmere—'* Mr. Secrotarye’s
tetter for Mr. Waterhouss for the faire and markett
‘1. Hallifaxe,”)

“ To my verie loving frend Mr. Egerton, Isquire,
her Matie's So.licilor.

Qir,—Whercas, the last terme I writt unto you
for the makynge of a certayne byl for & mercatt
1o bee had weekly, and one faire yearly, at Hallifax,
in Yorkshire, and in my said letter named the in-
habibantes of that towne as the persons to whome
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this graunt should passe; so it is that since I doo
understand the sayd towne is a percell of the Manor
of Hallifax, and Robert Waterhouse, Esquire, as
Lord of tho whole manor [is] seased of that towne,
Wherefore theise are to pray you to make the sayd
bill in such sort as the grawnt of thie mercatt and
fayro maye passe to the sayd Waterhouse and his
heires, wherby his 'Tenantes in tho sayd towns

may havo benefitt thereof, and he avoyd sudh pre- .

judice as may, peradventure, growe fo his
inheritance yf the gmwnt weare passed jn the name
of the inbabitantes in that towne. To which effect
the inclosed byll is made readie, which I pray you
to allowe of by your hand in case you fynd it to
conteine nothing prejudiciall to hir Matie. And so
I commend you hartely to God. From my howse
in London, the xiith of November, 1584.—Your
loving frend, FRA. WALSINGHAM,”

“““The patent then drawn,’” writes the editor of the
volume of the Camden Society [for year 1840] in
which theso letters appoar, * was ohjocted to, andd
the questipn was referred to the Master of the
Rolls; who prepared another, in which *“ M,
Waterhonso's adversafy' concurred for tho settle-
ment of matters in difference. It was transmitted Lo
the Solicitor-Gencral that it might be engrossed and
signed by him, and a note of the contents added for
the information of the Queen, In the Histories of
Halifax, by Watson and by Wright, no informa-
tion is given respecting the application by the in-
habitants or its resistance by Waterhouse. Perhage,
no patent was ever granted in consequence of the
dispute, as we are told by modern sathorities that
the merket is held by prescription’ '

{Indorsed by Lord Ellesmero—* Mr. Waterhousc
boke for Halifex Markett.”] I

*“ To my very loving frend Mr. Thomas Lgerton,

Esy., hie Mnti(f's Holicttor Gieneral.]

- Sir.—Wheroas, a good wiliile sinee, I writt to you
for o gritont do e made for Mr. Robert Walter-
house to keepo certayne fayres in Hallifax, which
you did made readic accordingly for hir Matie's
eignature; so it is that ‘some objection beeying
made agaynet that patent, and the considenation
thereof by hir Matie beeyng referred to the Master
of the Rolles, he hathe, after the hearyng of all

objections, made o draught of a newo by assent of
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Mr. Waterhouse adveraarie in this eawse, which
draught I send you subsaibed by the Master of
the Roues, prayiug you the same may be engrossed
and subseribeq by you, with some short dooquet of
she eifect of the Lyll. And so I commend you
hartery to God.

From the Court the fyrst of December, 1585.
Your very loving frend,

‘FRA. WA:L%ING»H:AM-"

The * advereavy ” referred to im the last letler
may have been Edward Carey, Esquire, the Head
Steward of the Manor of Wakefield, whose per-
quisites in our town would probably have been
interfered with had Letters Patent for a market
been granted either to the inhabudaonts or to Mr.
Robert Waterhouse. We know, anyhow, that a
market had been held here and presumably a fair
by ancient prescription long betore the dute of this
porrespondence. Coenpiaints were lodged in the
Manor Court at Wakelield against persons fore.
stalling the market in Hebfax in the tims of Heory
V1iI. There is, bowever, some further history -
regarding this subject to follow in the 1Tth century.

THE HARRYING OF CATHOLICS.

At the time when the Bond of Association was
being signed, and afterwards, there was much
hunting and harrying of Catholics, especially of
pri.sts, and Mr. Roberi Waterhouse's brother-in-
law, Mr. Thomas Waterton, of Walton Hall, seems
to have had a very uneasy timse of it It was indeod
a Had day for a ' conscientious objector.”

Mr, Henry Cheek, writing on August 12th, of
this year, to the Earl of Huntingdon, says:—

* By our general letters you may perceive the
store of priests and sceds of rebellion which are
cherished in this country. I was informed byWortley
that they leit & bag full of vesiments ab Thomas
Waterton's house, whereupon I dircoted & commis-
cion for taking bim and his wile, but before the
pursuivants came, they fled.”

As one looks to-day a2t the Waterton Arms in the
window at Shibden Hall, one cannot but feel some
pity for ithe brother of Mre. Weaterhouse; who
appears to have been guilty of no grester offenco
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than that of adhering to the old form of faith, in
which he had apparently been born and bred,

|
Mr. Waterhouse's secongd son, John, died in July,
1584, and wes buried at St. Michael-le-Belfrey’s,
York, as the parish register there records: —* John
Watterhous, sonne to Mr. Watterhous, , buryed
tho xith day of July, being of tl}'&dge of two
yearcs.” . |

Tt is evident from this and subsequent entries that
the owner of Shibden Hall and his family spent
much of their time in tha citv of York, where they.
possessed property. We find: from Robert's will
that he owned a capital messuage in the parish of
8t. Helen’s and St. Wifrid’s, in that city.

As was noticed in my previous paper, Mr. Robert
Waterhouse had been sole Lord of the Manor of
IHalifax from about the year 1571, his father, John,
Laving apparently abdicated his partnership in the
title i1 favour of hia son. ! !

A} . i
A COSTLY LAWSUIT.

In the very first year [15841 of his ownership of
Shibden Hell, Mr. Waterhouse waa involved in a
law suit with one of his manorial tenants, to wit.
Brian Lister, yeoman, of Halifax, son of Gilbert
Lister. ' This was a ‘somewhat interesting casd.
The legal proceedings connected with it originated
fisst of all in 1578, .in the Halifax Manor Court,
and thence went up to the Council in the North.
and finally to the High Court of the Star Chamber.
In September, 1580, tho Halifax Court Rolls inform
us that Drian Lister in his own person was plaintiff
against John Haldesworth in a plea of land, and
that John 1Doe and Richard Roe were named
pledges for his prosecution of his suit. ‘* On this,”
we learn, “the same DBrian, according to the cus-
tom of the Munor, protests that he will prosecute
lis complzint in the form and nature of a
Brief of our Laudy' the Queen, of Assize
6f Novel Disavisin at the Common Law. And he
complains that the said John Haldeaworth unjustly
and illerally has disseised him of a messuage and
34 roods of land in Halifex within the Liberty and
Jurisriction of this Court, and of which the said
Brian was scised in” demosne as of fae ﬂg)y Copy of
Cowt Roils, ote. ' . '

i
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And the aforesasid John Haldeeworth in his
proper person says ‘‘that, in regard to the aforesaid
messttage and 34 rds. of land in the plaint speci-
fied that he hath not disscised the said Brian
Lister of the said premises, and he prays that an
enquiry may be made by Assize”? We do not
know exactly what happened when the case came
before the Council in the North, but doubtless the
Star Chamber was afterwards selected, as a Court
freer from local influence, and where justice, in
thoso days, could be more eflootmally obtained.

The Dill of Complaint of Brian Lister addressed
to the Star Chamber s preserved in the Public
Record Office. The procecdings were taken not
only against ‘“ Robert Watethouse, Isquare, now
Lord of the said Manor " of Halifax, but also
against John Haldisworth and William Hialdis-
worth, yeomen, and John Ilaley. John Halds-
worth was of Blakehill, Northowram, ang William
was apparently his son, for the register of bap-
tisms at Halifax Tras tho baptism of a William
Haldsworth, son of John, of Northowram, on the
d4th Auvgust, 1543, John Ialey tvas a clerk cmi-
ployed by the Manor Court.  The suit, which, as
T have said, had previously—viz., in June, 1582—
been before tho Council of the North, was con-
cerned with the genuinencss or otherwise of certain
court rolls of the Manor of Halifax relating to 33
roods of land and baildings thercon in Halifax,
nalf a rood of which land. that bad heen taken front
the waste, Iying near Dean Clough,

Tho plaintilf, Brian Lister, was son of Gilbert
and grandson of anothier Brian. It appcars that
this Brian, the clder, had besides his son Gilbert,
two daughters, Isabella and Agnes Lister. Gilbert,
his son, married Sybil—and he dicd about six years
_before his father Brian. Gilbert had » daughter,
Jonnet, who married Georgo Stancliffe on the 17th
July, 1541, and waa one of the witnesses, then aged
about 70, at tho trial.

In his Bill of Complaint to the Star Chamber,
Brian Lister. after stating that *° divers suits had
Lbeen moved,”” by him,  before the Council estab-
lished in tho North,” concerning his right and .
titlo ™ in onc messuago or tenement and threo
roods and a half of land customary [i.c., copyhold],
holden of tho Manor of Halifax, and lyimg in Hali-
fax, against tho two Ilaldesworths and TRobert
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Waterhouse, Esq., the lord of the said mandr, and
John Haley, servant to the said Rob{ert ‘Whater-
house, proceeds in his Bill, addressed | to Her
Majesty Queen Elizabeth, to charge them in no
measured language, as follows:—He alleges that,
about four or five years past, of ‘ their sinister,
lewd, and naughty dispositions, not having the fear
of God before their eyes. nor any due regard to
your Highness’ laws, nor fearing tlie penalties pro-
vided, etc., in the laws and statntes of this your
realm, ete., they did wittingly, eubtlely, and falscly
forge and make, otc., one Court Roll, giving the
same an ante-dato of the eightcenth day of Octo-
ber in the sixteewbh year of the reizn of the late
King Henry tho Right, and one ocopy of 'the
same.”* }

The alleped forged documents purported to be a
surrender on the part of Brian's father, Gilbert, of
the premises in dispute, to the use of Sibil, his wife.
for a term of years, with & remainder to his son
the petitjoner, Brian, who was stated to have been
admitted tenant of the promises. * In truth -

alloges Brian—* there was never any such Court
" Roll, nor any euch copy, nor any such ender,
nor any such admittance, forasmuch as the said
Gilbert wae dead throe years hefors the dato of the
gaid copy and Court Roll.”

Tho petitioner, Drian Lister, then alleges that,
after his father Gilbert’s death, he ' then being
very young,” was inveiglod by John Haldesworth
into granting to Haldesworth a lease of the pre-
mises for certain years. Brian—so he says—*‘ then
and yot being a poor and simplo person,” did sur-
render such an eostate for years to the said John
Taldesworth. He proceeds to allege that the
defendants Waterhouse and the Haldsworths, of
their ‘‘ wicked, devilish, and naughty disposition.”
intending lis ‘f utter dlamhermon .+« . did
wittingly [orge two other false Court Rolls . .-
and two copies of the sume,” one dated 29th April
“in tho twenty-fomth year of your | Highness’
most happy 1e1gn, " and the other the fourtecnth
Qctober, and in the alleged fulso rolls it way recited
that Briun Lister about the 36th year of King
Henry, by Henry Batt, a tenant of tho manor,
sold and surrenderod the premises absohtely to the
said John Ialdsworth and his heirs in fee, whereas

the true surrender was only for a term of 21 years-
| i
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The petitioner winds up his Bill of Comphaint by
praying that subpoenas may be served on the two
Haldesworths, John Haley, and Robert Water-
house. On the 28th Oectober, 1584, Mr. Robert
Waterhouse liled his answer to the Bill, and denies
in toto the charges made against him by the com-
plainant.

Other doouments relating to this—the Star Cham-
ber suit-—arc the replication of Brinn Lister, com-
plainant, to the answer of Robert Waterhouse,
Esqre., defendant, and tivo writs of Commission,
issued by the Queen, tho first dated 3rd November,
1584, and the sceond 10th May, 1585

The former of these is divected to John Dighton,
Robert Ramsaden, John Boothe, of Shawe, and
John Wilkinson, gentlemen, who were deputed to
take the Answers at Halifax of John Haldeswortl:
to Interrogatorics to be administered to him on be.-
half of Brian Lister. Then we have Responsions
[answers] to Interrogatorics made by John Haldes.
worth of Blakehill, on 21st Jamuary, 1584-5.

The second Writ of Commision is directed to
Edward. Mawde, John Milner, Walter Otes, and
Thomas Taylor, gentlemen, dirceting them to oall
and examine witnesses at Halifax ow the lst Jumo
noxt [1585] to answeor the Inferrognlorvics, duted
10th May, * ministered to them on behu!f of Brian
Lister.” On the lst June, 1585, tho witnesses sum-
moned on Dbehalf of Drian Lister made their
depositions, :

Tho first witness was JENNET STANCLIFFE,
wife of George Stanclfie, of 1lalifax, *‘about the ago
of seventy years.” She was the daughter of Gilbors
and sister of Brian Lister, and had married George
Siancliffe on the 24th June, 1541, as shewn by our
parish registers.  Her mother, sho etates, was
¥ibil, who had died in 1545. Her grandiather,
Byian, sorvived her father, Gilbert, about . nix
years, and possossed the 34 roods and the buildings
thercon at the timo of his death. Teapelle and Agues
Lister, his davghiors, ocoupied the property aftoer
Beiaw’s death for a short time, end hor mother,
Sibil, purchased of John Waterhouse, .whn, she
thiuks, was Lord of the Manor of Halifax, the
parcel of common containing half a rood.”

The sccond witness was JOIIN LISTER, of
Northowram, * miluer,”” aged about 74, who con-
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firmed Jennet Stancliffe’s evidence, but “ never
heard that any of the Court Rolls or copies had
been forged.” :

JOHN THORNEHILL, of Lightcliffe, gent.,
about 34 years old, was the third witness, -

He says—and his deposition is rather interesting
—that he wus desired by Buian Lister, the plaintiff)
to go to Bhibden io search the Court Rolla *“to
soe whethor the plaindiff, soon after his fabher's
death, was admitted tonant of the lord as heir to
liis father of 34 roods of land, and went there, and
John Wilton, of Brighouse, went with him to
Shibden, and Robert Waterhouse permitted them
to scarch the rolls from 10th to 29th or 30th, Henry
. VIIL” Says also that “* Robert Waterhouse showed
him and John Wilton a number of Court Rolls, but
does” not remember whether he said they ware all
the Court Rolls betweeen 10th and 29ih Eehry
VIII, e could not find that the plaintiff wag
admitted tenant in any of them. Says he made
another search bhotween 12th or 14th,” and 20th
Henry VIIL, and that he searched a'roll of the
16th year twice but could find no dourting of the
plaintiff in the suil roll, and that he heard John
Hoemingway say that he searched the rolla and
there wus no suoh ocopy as fho plaintiff wishod to
be found in the rolls.

Says * he has seen an order set down before the
Queen’s Counzil in the North, dated 28th Nov., 24
Lliz, . . . . showing that by the assent of the Coun-
sel of Robert Waterhouso, then defendant, that,
on an assize to be brought by the said plaintiff,
Robert Waterhouse should plead to the same and
that neither he nor the Jury should take jany
advantage by reason of the plaintiff not being -
admitted the tenant, but should allow of his S~
pused seisin,” Te, like John Lister, had never
henrd that any of the court rolls or copies had been
forged. ' ' .
- JOON WILTON followed as a witness, and con-
irmed John Thornhili’s evidenoce, ‘

| {
MARGARET, lato wife of John Broadley, of
the Carre House, confirmed Thornhill’s evidence,
lrut says that Brian was not in possession of the pre-
mises when hae died. _
GEORGE STANCLIFFE, who had married
Jennot Lister, deposed ihat an agreement had been
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niade between Brinn Lister and John Haldesworth
that the latter should have a lease of the 34 voods
and buildinga for 20 years, and that Haldesworth
mid £10 in hia presence to Lister for the sama
about 36 yeara ago. '

ROBERT RAMSDEN, of Malifax, aged about
70, eclothier, was quite an expert witness as to the
«ustoms of the Manor of ITalifax, and the last wit-
ness of the number was JOHN  RAMSDEN, .of
Halifax, clothier, abont 58 years old, who confirmed
Robert’s evidence.

One of the Interrogatories punt to the witnesses
which does not seem to have been answered was:—

“ Whether Robert Waterhouse, about the timo
of the search between the 10th and 20th years [of
Henry VIILI] did untter to Gilbert Lister, son of
the plaintiff, or any ather, the following words,
viz, =" Thou [meaning the son of the ani(! nlain-
tiff] wilt thou now be satisfied. for thou mayest seo
here is no such copry as thou wonld'st have?' »

It thas appears from the Interrogatories and ovi-
dence that the Court Rollz of the Manor were kept
at Shibden IIall, and onc of the othor questions
asked of the witnesses was : ““Whether vou have been
desired by the plaintiff, or any for him, to go to
Shipden, to the honse of John Waterhouse at Ship-
den, father of Robert Waterhouse, one of the de-
fendants, to search the Court Rolls of the Manor
of Halifax then in their custody?"

Wo are not told how this suit in the Star Cham-
ber ended, but from tho Manor records of after
years it would seem that Robert Waterhouse and
the Haldesworths gained the day.

In tho year 1600, abwout sixteen years after these
proceodings, wo find that the matter was still o
bona of contention, for thoumh Drian Lister had
departed this life, his son Gilbert hegan o fresh
action in the Manor Court and at the Common
Law, to recover the 3} roods of land at or near
Dean Clough, but in this case the defendants were
neither the Lord of the Manor nor the Haldos-
worths, but one John Waterhouse, of Croashill, waa
sued as tho ocoupier of the premises. The writ to
the latter to answer the charme laid by QGilbert
Lister, as illustrating the way in which legal actions
were taken and dealt with in our local Manor
Court, translated from the Latin, runs es follows:
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“Tt is enjoined on the Grave of Falkifax and his
deputy or deputies that he by view of four tenants
of the lord of the Manor of * Hallifax® aforesaid,
eause John Waterhouso, of Croshill, te be sam.
moned in regard to three messupges or ontfages,
ono garden, and thres roods and a half of land,
wilth their appurtenances in ¢ Hellifax ’ aforesaid,
held of thie Lord of the Manor aforesaid by Copy
of Conr{ Roll, necording to the custom of the same
manor, so that he be here at the next Court to
be held at  HaMifax * aforesaid for the Lord of the
Manor aforesait] to make answer to Gilbert Laster,
son of Brian Lister, of a plea on demand of the
nforesaid messnages and of all the lands and, tene-
ments aforesaid. The manner wherein you shall
canse this precept to be executed you are toloertlh
to the Steward of the Manor aforesaid or his
depuby thero at the Court a.foresmd togothier with
this precept i form aforesaid.  And this you
khaH not omit for any poril incumbent. Witness
the aforespid Stoward tho fourth day of September,
in tho fortyfirst yoar of the reign of our Lady
Klimhboth by the grace of {zod, of England, France,
and of Teeland, Quoen, Defonder of the faith, ete.

[signed] N. Fexav.”
Endorsed on the back we read in English:—

“ This precont was executed the 16th day of
June, anno 1600, accordinge to the tenqr within
written, in the presenes of Daniell I‘oxcrofte
Robert Bearstowe, Henry Halle, and Jambs Boythe,
foure of the lordes oustomary tenantes of the Manor
of Hahfam—John W’aterhmwe, | Debeto Grave
(sich)”

It was in this form and manner that law sui'ts
wers initioted in our Mnnor Court

In the year 1585 another son was born to the Lord

of the Muuor, who was christened John—as ap-
" pears by an cniry in the baptismal register ot St.
Michael-le-Belfrey’s, John Watterhouse, son to
Mr. Watterhouse, Esq., baptised the 13th day of
May (1585) ” and in the following year, 1586, Robt.
another son was born at York, on the 23rd Sep-
tember, and baptisod at St. Mmhael-le-Belfray 8.
The entry of his christening runs in the mg:stezJ
there thus: ‘‘ Robert Watterhouse, sonne to Mr.
Roberte Watlterhouse, ba-ptlzed the 25th Septem-
ber, 1536,
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The families of Waterhouse and Milner -had, wo
know, been united bry the marriage of Mr. Robert
\Vaterhouse’s sunt, Anne Waterhouse, with Mr.
John Milner, late of Halifax, but then of Pudsey.
A second union was made in or about the year 1586,
when Robert Waterhouse's first cousin, Robert
Waterhouse, of Harthill, son of George Waterhouse
of that ilk, married his cousin Grace, the daughter
af John Milner and of the above-said Anne Water-
house. On this oocasion, of course, there .was a
marriage scttlement, and a fine to this effect was
passed in Easter Term, 1586, in which Robert
Waterhouse, Fsq., of Shibden, and Robert Water-
house, sent., of Harthill—the bridegroom-—were
plaintiffs, and John Milner, gent., and Robert, his
son and heir—Crace Milner’s father and brother--
were deforciants,

The property settlad on the marriage comprised,
it appears, four messuages and four cottagos, with
lands in Calverley Pudsoy, Leeds, and Bramley.

In 1588, on the 3rd March, there was yet another
son borm at York to the owner of Shibden Hell, and
¢ Richard Waterhounse,” says the Baptismal Regis-
ter ot 8t. Michael-le-Belfrey’s, * sonne to Mr.
Waterhouse [was] baptised the bth March [1588].

'READER OF THE INNER TEMPLE.

In 1589, it would appear. that Mr. Waterhouse,
must have spent some time in London, for, in tho
autumn of that year he was clected by his brother
Benchers Reador at the Inner Temple. This was a
post of much honowr end of much expense.

Tt was his duty, during his term of office, to pro-
side at what were called the * moots ™ or discussions
of the " Utter Barristers,”” and to deliver the
opinion of the Bench on the points mooted. “Utter
barristers.” according to Herbert [Anfiquities of
the Inns of Court and Chancery] were such as are
called by the Benchers to plead and argue in the
society deubtful cases and questions, which are
called moots, and, whilst they argue the said cases,
they sit uttermost on the forms of the benchers,
which they call the ‘“bar.”” Over these “ moots”
the Reader, as I have said , presided.

A.“s “ Reader,” it was expeoted of Mr. Wa.t&-
Houze that he, aa thn manner then was with Rond-
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ers, should keep a splendid tuble, entertaining at his
own cxpense the judges, nobility, bishops, ministera
of State, and not unfrequently royalty itself, It
sometimea cost, writes Herbert, a Reader, as much
as £1,000f  One can hardly imagine that the
income of Mr. Watelonse could have been equal
to so great a strain. Among those of all the other -
Readers of the Tener 'Pemple, his Arms ars to bo
seent painted on the walls of the Hall there to-day.

In Jume, 1588, Mrs, Robert Waterhounse lLad'to
mourn the loss of her brother-in-law, Sir Colton
Gunrrave, of Nostell. He died indepted to Qlieen
Flizaboth in the sum of £2,000 or, thercabouts, due
from him as rejeiver of the Queen’s revenucs in
. tho Homors of DPontcfract, - Knareshorough, and

Tickhill, and othcer possessions of the Duchy of
Loncaster, and his gdods were ordered to
be eezedd to the value of that amount,
There i3 a splendid invemtory of his furniture
and other poods and chattels preserved among the
records relating 1o the Duchy of Lancaster, Lady
Anne Gargrive, Mrs, Waterhouses's sister, was ex-
amined at this lime in regard to these proceedings,
and deposcd on her oath that there was a .deed of
gift made by her husband in 1587 of divers, goods -
and chatiels to his and her five daughters, Her
deposition was confirmed by Edward Beckwitly, Sir
Cotton's servant, wno deposed to the truth of this,
having himself written out the deed, * which had
heen perused by Mr. Robert Waterhouse, coun-
scllor in the law, after it was first drawn and de-'
livered into his [Mr. Watcrhouse’s] keeping by Sir
Cotton, in tho presence of the depoﬁent ahd olher
witnesses.”? : '

In connoction with the death of Sir Cotton Car-
grave, Mr, Waterhouse's brother-in-law, we ma
add that on a tomb in the soutls quire in Wraghy
Church is or wus the following inscription :—

“ Here lieth buried Sir Colton Gargrave, Kb.,
ilat diod the 16th day of June, 1588. Fo married
first Bridget Fairfax, of Stecton, and had jssue by
her onely [sic] 3 sonnca, Tho., Robert, and John;
and after [he] married Anne Watterton, of ‘Walton,
by whom he had issue Rich., Robt., John,! and
danghters Anne, Margarct, M , Elizabeth, | Pris-
cilla, and Frances, Robert, the 2nd son waq slayne at

London at 17 years of age. John, his thipd, died
at, his birth.” '
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In Michaelmas term, 1587, there was a Fine
passed, in which Robert Waterhouse was plaintiff, .
and Nicholas Waterhouse, gent., son of Gregory
Waterhouse, of Siddal, deforciant, by which was
registered tho transfer to the owner of our hall of
lortses and lands in Siddal and Southowram. This
may, however, have only been some form of family
settioment.

In 1589. however, Lo purchased, along with
Thomas Waterhouse, gentleman, of Braithwell, his
brother, & messnage with lands in Aclkworth, that
reems to have remwined in his possession, and is
ccrtainty the property in Ackworth mmentioned in
his will. These were purchased of William and
Ambrose Hallyler and Victoria, wife of the said
Ambrose. This Amnbrosc Halliley is recorded in
the proceedings connected with Sir Cotton Gar-
arave’s affairs as owing to the Gargrave estate £100
on mortgage,

In 1590, Mr. Robert Waterliouse purchased of
his cousin, Nicliolas Waterhouse, gent. [son of
Gregory] and of Elena, his wife, one mesenage, 3
colttages, 2 water-mills. and two dams, with land,
and 16 acres of lahd covered wilh water, in South-
owram and Falifax, and a watercourse ealled
Halifax Brook, in fthe seme. 'Thia ia the doscriy-
tion of tho proporly as given in thoe fine puesed ul
the time, :

Besides the property he had inherited from his
father, Mr. Robert Waterhouse added considerably,
it ssems by purchase, to his estate, In fact, if wo
are to believe what one of his younger sons—
Richard—alleged in some legal proceedings, about
40 years later, he rather overdid things in this
resyect.

These purchases, we are told, amounted to £200
 year, but “ his personal estate and the filial por-
tions of his younger sons were much deoreased and
of little or no value at all.”*  This, however, is an
ex parbs statement. Richiard Waterhouso also
states that the Manors of Halifax and Heptonstall,
one capital mossuage called Shibden IMall, divers
lands thereto Delonging. divers watercorn, and
fulling mills, and other Jands in the parieh of ITali-

(ax and a certain pasture ground in Ackworth, were
all of them of tho value of £800. including the 200

pounds worth of property his father had acquired
by prehase.
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In 1500, Mr. Waterhouse made a soitlement, and
cutailed his cstates in tail male, on his elde-t son
Y.dward, with, as the lawyers say, remainders ‘'over.

{

THE BAILIWICK OF HALIFAX.

In 1590-1 the “ Bailiwick of ITalifax was gra'nted
to Rohert Walerhouso by Mr. James Stanslicld, so
ub least' Mr. Waterhouse alleges in a certain. sub- -
socquont legal aotion. “ Dailiwick ¥ meant tho
arca subject to the jurisdiction of a bailiff, and tho
question at issuo wne whethor there was a separ-
abo bailiwick and baililf for Halifax, apart {rom
the bailiwick and bailiff of Wakeficld. The plain-
LT in this suit, whisl engaged the altention of
tho Duchy Court of Lanesster in 1503 was 3ir Goeo.
" Sevile, of Thornhill, Kght. His petition is
amdng the records at the P,11.O., London., He
recites in his Bill a lease made by King Ifcnry
VIIL on 2nd October, 1546, to Sir John Tarppess,
son of Sir Richard Tempest, of the fee farm of
tho town of Wakeficld, and of the bailiwick df the
same town, Sir John Tempest was, in faot,
Steward of tho Mauor of Wakefield—and Halifax,
so far as ihe Tourns und Court Lects 'were con-
cernod, was ypart and parcel of thut manor—atid '
thers wore bailiffs appointed by the Steward bhoth
ith Wakefield and Halifax, f ' '

8ir Georgo Savile claimed that the Manor of
Halifax had been made by Act of Parliament part
and parcel of tho Duchy of Lancaster, * since
which timo the interest of Sir John Tempest came
to the petitioner ”’—and he also alleged that the
Laberty of Halifax was not distinot from the juris-
diction of Wakefiold, and he denied that there
was any such thing as a separate Manor of Hali-
fax, and that it was only “in respect of the juris-
diction which is pretended by the Gibbet Law *
that it is distinguished from the Manor of Whake-
field, “ and not as any divided Manor, or divided
amd several Dailwick or Liberty or Feo from the
said Daibwiok und ¥Fuoe of Wakelidhd.” To this 13ili,
in Hilary Term 1583, Robert Waterhouse replied,
illeging the grant to him of this office of bailiff of
Halifax, by James Stansfeld. to whom the same
oflice had been previously granted by Robert Tem-
pest.  Thomas Mitchell, of Halifax, - yeo-
man, and John Draper, of Sowerby, yeoman,
joined with Mr. Waterhouse 1n his Answor to Sir
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Georgo Sgl.vile’a Bill of Complaint, for they wcro
alao defendants in the action, and were charged,
as deputies of Robert Waterhouse, with * letling »
and interrupting, with great disorder and “violence,
John Murgatroyd, who had been appointed by
Savile a8 his colleotor of rents, in the execution of
that duty., They had also, mso it was alleged by
Savile, drawn the same Murgatroyd into suits be-
fore the Council of the North. How the matter
ended I bave not discovered.  Did Mr, Water-
house gain the day, and was heé successful an prov-
ing that Halifsx was 2 separate bailwick from
Wakefield, and that, as bailiff thereof, he had a
perfect right to appoint Mitehell and. Draper as
his deputies? If so, it seems somewhat strange
that the Tompests as Stowards of the Manor of
‘\Wakefield under the Crown, should have had tho
power to alienate the appointment of Bailiff of
Halifax.

In later times the appomtment of DBailiff, if it
over, indeed, passeg from them, returmed to the
Lords of the Manor of Wakefield, who, as Wright
says in his account of the ibbet Law, commissioned
the Bailiff in Halifax ‘‘ under the particular seal
apperiaining to that Manor 7 of Wakefield, to keep
a common gaol for the detention of prisoners await-
ing trial.

In 1592 died, at York, Robert Waterhousc’s
mother, John Waterhouse’s widow, and she was
buried in St. Michael-le-Belfrey, where there was
placed a monument to hier memory, of which 1 have
given the inseription in a former paper. The
parvish regisler there records that ** Mres, Wattor-
howse, mother to Mr, Watterhowse, was buryed
there the second of May ' [15692]). She, as it will
be remembered, was the daughter and heiress of
Thomas Bosvile, Tsq., of Conisboro’.

Another son was born to the owner of Shibden
Hal in 1590, whosa birth and death are thus re-
corded by his fathor:—

“ William Waterhous, sixth sone of the sayd
Robert Waterhous, was born at Kynsley the fourth
day of July, 1590, in the 32 yeare of our most
gracious Queno Illizabeth, about 7 of the cloke at
night as the Ladve Gargrave informyd me, and he
dyed the 17Tth daye of Novembre, commoniye
cawlid the queencs dave, then next followinge, and
. the dayo aftre that, bonge the 18th daye of
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|
Novembre, 33 regne Elizabetho, dyed the eight
Honerable George, Earll Marshall of Eynglande,
Gilbert, now Eavell of Shrowshurie, being of the
age of 38 yeares the 20th day of Novembre next
alter that, as he himsclf tould me.”

Georgo E. of Shrewsbury, whose death Mr.
YWaterhouso thus records, was, we may remind our-
solves, one of the two noblemen commissioned by
Queen Elizabeth to announce the sentence of her
execcution to _ :

MARY, QUEEN OF SCOTS,
and, with the Barl of Kent, was on the scaffold

when the unfortunate lady wak beheaded, on! Wed- ,

nesday, 8th February, 1587, The Countess of Salis-
bary on ono occasion gavo Mr. Waterhohse a chain
of gold for his son Edward. |

In his notes of family births and deaths Mr.

Waterhouee, in 1592. records the hirth and death of
& short-lived daughter, thus:—* Also in Januarie,
tricesimo. \quarto regine FElizahethe, the sayd
Robert Waterhouso had issue a doughter, who dyed
tho same daye. She was buried at Yorke, whear
she was borne, and was never christenyd.”

William, his sixth son, was bhorn at Kinsley, as
we have learned, in the townshiyy of Hemaworth,
where lived the Lady Agnes Gurgrave, the sister
of Mrs. Waterhouse, and widow of Sir Cotion
Gargrave, and one of the daugliters of Mr| Thomas
Waterton, of Walton Hall, near Wakefield

Under the year 1595, ocours this entry in Mr.
Waterhouse’s notes: — -

“ Frances Waterhous, doughter of the sayd
Robert Waterhous, was borne at Yorke, the fythe
dayo of Septembre, 37 regine LElizabethe, 1595,
about 8 of the cloke befors none; the fors yd name
was agreed upon, being the name of Prances, the
wyffe of Matthew Lo. Archbishop of Yorke,, and
yet aftre that the said Frances, being one of tho
godmothers, altered her purposs, and cawled her
Abigall, contrery to my mynde and the mynde of
my wyfle, at the fontston, when'my sayd doughter
wes ohristenyd,! and hir name is Abigall and not
Franoes, who dyed 14 Junii, 1596.”" In the mar-
gin is written “ Abigall should have been namyd
Frances. She dyed at Yorke, 14, Junii, 38 Regine
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Elizabethe, and was buried in Snnt Fllen®s Church
in Stomgaf, in the sayd cctye.”’

This Arvchbishop was Matthew Hutbon, appointed
to the See in 1595.

In the Register of St Michael-le-Baifrey’s
oceurs :—** Abygall Watteriiouse, doughter to Mr.
Robert \Watterhouse, was baptized the vii Sept.
[1595].”

On the 20th Avpgust, 1596, died Mr. Francis
Mothant, of Wiganthorpe, younger brother of Sir
Ihomas Motham, of Molhan, hds gentheman had
martied Dionida, doughter of Siv Thomas Water-
ton, of Walton, and sho wfs aunt of Mirs, Water-
house, of Shibden IHall, Mr. Metham, in his will,
which is an cxceedingly long document [Printed in
Yorks. Arch. Fourual, vol. 8], says: *‘ I malke and
constitute supervisors [of my will] my loving
nephew, Robert Waterhouse, of York, HEsquire, and
my loving eousin Jolin Girlington, of Hutton,
geut., irusting in their good and well-approved
frieadiship towards me, that they will give their
best aid and advice lo my executors for the well
and cffectual performance of this my testament
according Lo illo jusl memning and true inbent of
the same; and for their pains therein to bo taken
1 give unto each of Them five poumids in * Angells.”

Mr Waterhouse’s uncle, Francis Metham, was
it scems, not altogether reconciled to * The Re-
formed Faith,” for a presentment was lodged
against him and his servant, Edward Simpson, at
the Archbishep's visilation in 1584, as non-com-
municants, His elder brother, 8Sir Thomas
Metham, i3 desoribed by one of Sir William Cecil’s
correspondents as ‘“‘a most

WILFUL AND OBSTINATE PAPIST.

He utterly refused to come to the divine
sorvicoe or hear it said, to receive the Com-
munion, to come to any sermons, or to read any
books cxeept they be approved (as he eaith) by the
Church of Rome. He refuseth fo answer and
stand and be tried by the Queen’s Ma]eaty Com-
mmissioners for causecs ceclesiastical.” . ., . 1
caugsed him to be committed to the Castle, where
hs remepineth and doth harm; yect more would he
have done if he might live at large ** {Cartwright’s
Chapters of Yorkehire History.)
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anam Metham, the unde of Mra, Waterhouae,
was buried in the quire of Terrington Church, near
Malton. -

The reason why Abigail Waterhouse was buried ' |

in 8t. Helen’s Church, Stonazate, York, seems to
have heen owing to the circumstance that the owner
of Shibden had beecome the possessor lof property
in that parish and a resident therein. 'A Tine,
pusserld in Faster 'Torm, 1596, shows that h had |
hecomo the proprictor of three messuages, two
stables, ctc., in the parishes of St. Wilffed and St.
Flelen—bought of Thomas Buskell and others, He

had previously, it seems, evidently resided in the

parish of St. Michael-le-Belfrey, '

Another ¥ine, passed in Michacimas Term, of the
same year, indicates his purchase of two fulling
mills and lands in Southowram from Nicholas
Waterhouse, eldest son and heir of Gregory Water-
house, of Siddal, deceased, and from Elena, wifa
of the said Nicholas, Nicholas Waterhonsa also
sold him, apparently about this time, *all that
messeazre in Halbfax called the © Old Hall”

, i
Also we find, from the Halifax Court Rolls, that
an the Tth October the same Nicholas Wagerhouse,
gentleman, surrendered and released to the Lord
of tho Manor of Ialifux, Mr. Robert Waterhouse,
all  his  right and title in  a  certain
close in  Hhalifax ealled Milne Hill Close,
and Jeromy and Toby, Nicholas® ' younger
brothers, on thoe 15th December, 1597,  also
rolcased all their interest in the same Milnre Hill !
Close, otherwise called New Garden Close. Toby
is desoribed as of Trinity Coll., Cambridge, The
brothers Lowis, Jeremy, and Toby Waterhouse on
the 15th December, 1597, suffered a seizure to the
Lord of the Manor of the following property,' and
of other premises, which, as they formed matter
for great litigation in years to follow, it may be
as well to parbioularise. The property to be-
seized into the lord’s handa consisted of 1 messuage,
1 garden, and 1 croff, in Halifax, near the Four
Mills, then in tho occupation of William Stancliffe,
of 2 closes of meadow called the Milne Closes, in
tho occupation of Robert Hardy, 1 fulling mill
called Brige Miln, and all goits, watercourses, etc.,
to the same belonging. Also 2 closes callad Over-
crawshay and Nether-crawshay, in the occupation
of Henry Drigg, near unto the said fulling mil.

b
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The Grage of Halifax, was enjoined to seize thesc
premises into the hands of the Lord of the Manor,
Mr. Waterhouse,

-

THE FULLING MILL.

A word or two about the fulling mill and adja-
cent closos.

From somo depositions taken in 1626, about 23
years after the date we are dealing with, wo learn
that in 1626 this fulling mill used to let at a rent
of £21 per annum. The rent was “ for the most
part paid by half yecars, and sometimes by quarters,
and accounts as to prolifs somestimes were settled
by jalies and sometimes by written statements.”
When the tallies were lost or defaced—as happened
in or about 1626—the tenant, we are told, found It
diffioult to remember the sums paid.

The Stone Dam closes In 1626 were estimated to
bo worth in rent £6 a year, and the Milne holmo
close was rented at the same figure.

Tho two Crawellshaw eloses In 1626 wore also
known as the Brow and the Ilolme. These closes
are deecribad as ¢ good ground lying near to the
market town of 1alifax, and along with the Miln,
holme, _}OITIIIIL‘; upon the water bank ecalled Halifax

Brock.”

Woe note that tho [ulling mill and the two closes
called Over and Nether Crawshay, had pre-
viously, on tho 6th October, been conveyed by
Abralmm Lister, of Ilalifax, son and heir of
Robert Liater, deecased, to Jeremy and Toby
Waterhouse. ~ The fulling mill and the closes
Abnaham had inherited from Richard Lister, of
the Cross, and the fulling mill scems to have been
the original fulling mill at North Bridge, which
from the “littin-g,” i.c., dyecing business, carried
on there had given their name of Litster or Lister
to tho family.

In 1590, we have learnt that Robert Waterhouse
had mado a setilement of his estatotwhorcby )
cntailed Shibden Hallthe Manor of Halifax, etc.,
on his eldest son, Tdward, in tail male, but, on thn
9th February, 159%. he demisé&-the premises lately
mentioned—the fulling mill, the Crawshays, ete.—
and some other property that he had, during his
lije purchased, for the term of one hundred years
to his younger sons, John, Roberh. and Richard,
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and he also, out of other lands, granted theml!an
annuity of £40 from the date of his death, 'The
other property hsides the fulling mill and the
Crawshays, sometimes called the Crown Fares, that
M:. Waterhouse granted for a term ( of one
hundred years to his younger sons, is Fhuq deseribed
in subsequent legal procoedings :— i

Close of land called the Milneholme, 2 closes |
called Stone-damme closes, 1 tencment and eroft
lsing on the south side of the great mill dam, and
in the occupation of one Stanchﬁ'e 1 close of ground
called Coldwell Ing, in the occupation of Robert
Boland, situate in Halifax, and 1 closc called Broad
Ing, in Southowram, in the ococugmtion of Gilbert
Drake, and all the messuages and grounds called
Widdop Head, in Heptonstadl.

Mr. Rohert Waterhouse had probably a presenti-
ment that his life was drawing to a close when he
made this provision for his younger 'sons, and he
died, apparently, at York on March the rd, 1508.

His will is dated on the 10th Febroary prev 1011513'
An abetrget of L runs as follows :—

“lebort W “wtorhouse, of the City of York, Esqr.”
~a0 ho 'deseribes himsell—in thin will recites that
he has by deed indented of bargain and sale to be
enrolled in I3, 1ligh Court of Chancery bai-
rained and =old to Robert Waterhouse, of ITart.
hill, county of York, gent., and Thomas Water-
house, of PBraithwell, in the said couniy, gent.,
John Milner, of Whitwell, Co. Derby, gent., and
to Nichelas TFernley, my servant, their heirs and
assigns for cver, all that capita] messuage in the
parish. of St. Ellen’s {sic] and St. Wilfred in the
city of York, late in the tenure of Thomas Buskell,
. Esgre., decd ., and now in the tenure of me, the
said Robert Waterlhiouse, also a messiage and lands
enfled the Riddinges, alias ITallyley, :md all other
my lands, ¢, at Ackworth, in the Co. of York,
an Lrist fo 9d]l and puy dohis, cte. To my Cousina
Jevensy and Tbye Waterhouse {I leave] £100. The
regidue of my personal estate (except my wife's
chain of gold, and one other chain of gold which |
I have in my onstody of mv son Edward’s which
the Countess of Skhrewshury gave him) I give and
boqueath to Jane, my- daughter, toawerds her pre-
ferment in marviege. - The aducatipn' of my
danehter Jane T do appoint to-my good pister the
Ladvy Gurgrave, and to my said wife. Whereas I
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have purchased to me nnd mine heirs of my cousin,
Niclolas Waterhouse,, all that messuage in I-Inlifax
called The Okt IMall, iate in the occupation of Wil
liam Watnpough, and now in the ocoupation of ono
Sheppard, one Like tonement now in the occupation
of Robert Bolland, 2 folling milnes lying in South-
owram, and cerkain coblages or tenements lving
near to the mimes in Halifax aforesaid, all which
premises are contained in one deed of assurance
made for my said cousin Nicholas Waterhouse unto
me, and whioh I had by deed of Bargain and Sale
assured and conveyed to my said oousin Nieholas
Watethouse and his heirs, upon ocondition that if
T do, on the Feast of the Purification of the Blessed
Virgin Mary, 1599, pay “to the said Robert Water-
house, of Hm-ihi‘]l, John Milner, Robori Walcr-
Liouse, of Parkiwnse, and ITenty Rai-nesr, acentlomen,
£400, according to a Bond of £800, made by me
mwite the said Robert Wablethotss, of Ilarthill,
John Alilner, Robert Waierhouse, of I’ark house,
and Henry Rayner, theh I and my heirs to re-enter
into the said Old 1Iall, fulling milnes, and last
recited premises, which, if 1 live till that dey I
pupose to pay, and, if I dic before tho said day,
ithen I require my suid cousins, Nicholas Water-
houso, Robert Waterhouse, of Harthill, John
Milner, and lobert Walcrhouse, of Parkhouse, and
Hensy Rayner, that my said  cousin, Nicholas
Waterhouse would accept to take the said Old
Hall, according to the said Deed mado by me.
unte him thereof in satisfaction of the said £400,
whichh I agreed to pay for the same, I having
Lestowed in the reparations of the said premiscs
tas Richard Ilnrrison, my scrvant, who had the
dealing therein for me, informeth me), £40 at the
least , I paying in the meaniime, and, thercfore, 1
{rust my said cousins will satisfy my said rcequess
and deliver to my exceudors the said £300 Bond,
which is made for the payment of the said £400, for
the said Ol Hall, and other the re-cited premises.

I give to my son Edwind Waterhouse, whom, 1
trust, will he a stay to my louse, wife. and
children, all my books, desiring him to allow what
I have set down licre or appointed to my three
vounger sons, lis portion of things which T have
left him [being] a great deal more than I had left
me by my father, I having & purposs to do much
more for him il God grant me life. I give to my
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wife her gold chain and onc eonvenient bed with -
the furniture.

The will of Mr. Robert Waterhowse concludes
thus:— ]

I desire my cousin, Robert Waterhouse, of 1¥art-
hill, to take upon him the education of my son
John; and my brother, Thomas Waterhouse, to
take upon him the cducation of my son Richard
until their full age. I appoint the aforesaid
Robert Waterhouse, of Harthill, Thomas Water-
house, the said John Milner, my brother Stephen
" Waterhouse, and said Michael Fearnley executors,
and as supervisors my nephew Richard Gargrave,
John Bennet, Doctor of Laws, my brothers, David
Wieterhouse and Philip Waterhouse, Mr, John West
my brother-inlaw, and my good frrepd Alr, John
Jhmwhall, of Pontefract.  Witnesses, Nicholas
Tearnley, Vincent Waierhonse, Richard Harrison,
and Edward Clapham. Dated 1st April, 1598. .

_ It may be well to suy o word or two in identifica-
tion of the persons named in the will,

ROBERT WATERHQUSE, of Harthill, cousin jof
tho testator, was son of Georme Waterhouse, George
being second son of the first Robert Waterhouse of
Shibden.  On the 16th April, 1575, Gregory Water-
house, of Siddal, third son of Robert, of
Shibden let for seven years 1o tlis
Robert, of Harthill, a largg amount of pro-
perty in Halifax, comprising the fulling mill, called
DBrigy AlLill, The Scedlings, ete., ete,, in perform-
ance of the payment of £133 63. 8d., to the said
Robet  Waterbouse, “for this aid! support, and
food,” payable at the'laie mansion house of the said
Robert Waterhouse in Halifax, in sums of £20 s
year for six years, and 20 marks in the seventh and
last year, Thus it seems that £20 a year was
considered a good allowance for the maintenance
of a gentleman, 'This Robert of Harthill married.
Ciraco, the daughter of John Milner, of Pudsey,
ared s will as chuted 1619,

THOMAS WATERHOUSE, of Blafthwell, ‘was
the third son of John Waterhouse, of Bhibden, and
hrother of the testator. He founded thelimportant
hranch of f.he family of Waterhouse of Braithwell.

JOHN MILNER, of Whitwell, was the brother
of Robert Waterhouse, of Harthill’s wife,' Grace,
and third son of John Milner, sometime of Stony-

| | :
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royd, and later of Pudsey, and of his wife Anne ‘
daughter of the first Roboett Waterhouse, of Sh:b

den. Nicholag Ferneley—deseribed as .tihe testabor’s
servant--may have been a Halifax mah, and the
same Nicholas Ferneley who married Grace Otes
on the 29th October, 1590. ITo acted for Robert
Waterhouse as a factotum im the Maner Court,

The cowsins—JEREMY and TOBY WATER-
HOUSE, with whose names we are now familiar—
named in the will, were younger sons of Gregorv
‘Watcerhouse, of Siddal.

Jeremy becamo a parson, took the degree of
B.D., and was Rector of "Greystock,

Toby was Gregory’s youngest son. ITe took the
degres of D.ID., and beeame Reetor of Whitwell,
in Derbyshive. There is o brass in Whitwell
Church that ho placed there in memory of his child,
another Toby. The father deseribes himself thereon
as ‘‘the youngest son of Gregory Waterhouse,
Esq., the youngest son of Robert Waterhouse,
Esq., of the Moot Hyll m IInIlfax, in Yorkshire,
Esq.”

Tho epitaph that he scems to havo composerd
himself on his fonr-year-old son is curious, and runs
thus :—

* Both life and grace in the sweet babe ran on,
When sudden ‘death did scem to mako their points
to meet in one, :

But thus on thee did life and grace thy parallels
attend,

Whose equal length keeps equal breadth, now never-
~meeting end.” _

The testator’s danghter Jane, to whom the chain
of gold given by the Countess of Salisbury was left.
married Metham Jackson, of Cadeby, gent.

THE LADY GARGRAVE, to whom the cduca-
tion of Jane Waterhiouse s, in conjunction with the
testator’s widow, committed, we have elready met in
tho courso of this paper. Bhe was, we know, Mra.

Waterhouse’s sister.

RICHARD GARGRAVI, one of the super.
visots ~ of the will, +was, perhaps, .not onc
of tho best men who could have. been
chosen- for " tlle purpose. He was the eon
of- Sir Colton Gargrave by his s=second mar-
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riage with Alrs. Waterhouse’s sisltar, and ho sue.

veeded to the family property after the death

of his half-brother Thomas Gargrave, who was tried
and exccuted at York for the murder of a servant
of his. Robert, the second son by the first mar-
riage, was slain at London when 17 years of age.

Richard, named in the will, in 1605, served -he
offize of High Sheriff; and it is told of him that as
ke rode through the streets of Wakefield he
“ bestowed great largess upoun the common people,
in congratulation for so wise, peaceful and rell-
gious & King as England then enjoyed.” ' Ho was
knighted, but 8ir Ridhard was a gambler and a
spendthrift, u.nd litule by little, the great estates
« upon whieh he eniered were paried with to supporg
his axtravaganco, Nostel wus sold in 1613. Dods-
. worth wrote of him in 1613 that * he now liveth
in the Temple fur sanctuary, having consumed his
. whole estate, to the value of £3,500 per annum at
the least, and hath not 2 penny to msaintain him-
solf but what the purohasers of some part of his
lands, in reversion after his mother’s death, allow
him, in hopethe will survive his mother, who hath
not consented to the sale.” Hunter writes:' * The
rustie moralist still poinds his coynsel’ with the story
of 8ir' Richard Gargrave, who could once ride on
his own land from Wukefield to Domcaster, but
wag, at last, reduced to travel with thé packhorses
to Londonm, and was fouhd dead in an old hostelry,
with lis head on a pack saddle.”

And this was the tragié end of our Mr. Robert
Watctirouse's nophow, Richard Gargrave.

JOHEN BENNETT, Doctor of Laws, of the City of
York, another suervisor of the will, was chaplain
to A, B. I’. John Piers 11588-1594], and waa made
heir to bhim in that prelate’s will. Out of grati-

tude he erected a monument at his own 'edpense to

the A.B.P. in York Cathedral. Dr. Bennett was
one of the Learned Council of the North under the
prosidenoy of the Iiarl of Huntingdon.

Of the testator's brother, DAVID WATER-
HOUSE, also one of the superyisors, ' omo
may have much to say in andther paper.
Sufficient is it here to- thote | that he
was Mr. Robert  Waterhouse’s  youngest
Lrother. He, like Robert, was a barrister of the
inmer Temple, and was, as his brother had been
before him, M.P. for Aldborough in the year 1588-9.
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RICIIARD HARRISON, one of the wilncsses,

was a trusted *festate agont ’—in modern lan-
ynage—of the Waterhouses, and was a collector of
their rente, sas his father, another Richard Harn-
soll, had been before him.  The family lived at
Brackenbed. It may be roemembered by some of
us that the famous and untrue statemont that aboul
the year 1450 there were only thirteen louses in
IMalifax purports (2ed vol. Parish Registers) to Lo
drawn from “ A nole faken out of n book of
Riehard Harrison’s, of Wheatley, written by John
Waterhouse, of Shibden, in 1566.

Ar. JOIIN WEST, the testator’s brother-in-law,
was onic of the West family, of Durghawallis, and
had married, it seems, Frances, sister of Mrs.
Waterhouse, she being one of the daughters of My
Thomas Waterton, of Walton. He avas the owner
of the manor of Burglwallis, and held the advosw-
son of the chwreh there, HENRY RAYNER, onc
of the trastees, was of Adwalton, and had married
Sitbil. daughter of Gregory Waterhouso by his wife
Margaret Tempest, 8he was therelore sistor to
Nicholas Waterhouse.

PHILIP WATERUOUSE, meniioned as o sujaer-
vizar of the will, was anc of the testator’s brothers.
Ho was a Fellow of Untversity Colleae, Oxlowd.
amdl was boried in Thornhill Church.

The will of Mr. Robert Waterhouse was proved
1sg April, 1598, by Thomas, Robeort, John, and
Stephen Waterhouse, four of the exeoutors.

The usual ™. M- Inquisition, talen after the death
of tenants of the Crown was held in due course, and
the jurors found that he had died seised in fee of
and in the Manov of Halifax, with its appurtenances
in Halifax, Heptenstall, and Trownfleet; also of a
rent of 4s. i Elland, 6d. in Hlpperholmo 6d. m
Shelf, 6d. in Northowram, 6d. in Ovenden, parcels
of the Manor aforesnid: and that he was  also
scised in fee tail lo himsoll and the heivs male of
his body in four messunges [one of these heing
Shibden Hall], 40 acres of land, 40 acres of meatlow,
80 acres of pasture, and & acres of woad.

The jurors said on their oath that the Manor
of Hulifax, with its appurtenances, were held of the
Quecn in capite by the temure of the hundredil
part of onc knight's fee, and were of the net value
of £12, and that the aforesaid premisos in South-
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owram are held of John Lacie, Esquire, as of his
Manor of Southowram, by fealty and rent &f 11/10
per annum, and are of the yearly value of
£4. 'The said, Robert Waterhouse, they said, died

on the 3rd Maxrch instant, :
|

This Inquisition wasi taken on the 31st Mareh,
1598, at York Castle, and so scems to show that
Mr. Robert Waterhouse had died in that eity. In
the Buriaxl Register of ' St. Michael-le-Delfrey’s
occurs the entey: — Mr. Waterhouse, the Lawer,
wag buryed in the Hye Quear, vih of March, 15978,

Robert Waterhouse, Esquire, son of the Robert of
Harthill, I suppose, and John Milner, gentleman,
were two of the jurors who made this inquisition.

We have now biought to a conclusioh the story
of Robert Walcrbouse’s ownership of Shibden Hall,
and all that nced be added now is the fact that his
widow found' some comsolation for his loss by
tnarkying as a sceond husband Mr. Gervaso Rayney.

AT know alwd this gentleman is ]t.hat e secins
Lo havo had some interest in thd Manbr of Tong,
which he shared with the Tempests. If the allega-
lions in & Bill of Compludnt filed by Sir FEdward
Waterhouse, in the year 1622, can be relied upon,
Me. Cesrvase llaynoy brealed lus  stepson, the
Knight, in a somewhal scurvy fashion.

Tho chief stewnrds named in the Rolls as presid-
ing ab the Manor Court at Halifax during Mr.
Waterhouse's ownership of the Manor were in and
hefore 1585, Robert Brigge, Esq., followed in or
hefore 1588 by Ralph Rokeby, Esq., whose succes-
'sor was Mr. John Batte, of Oakwell Hall, but Mr.
Nicholas Fenay, of enay Hall, near Huddersfield,
scems to have gencrally acted as depyty steward,
as well as clerk, the various wrils, ete., of the
Court being signed with bis namie. r. Ralph
Rokeby was the author of an interesting aceount
of the Rokehy lamily, '

Robert Drige, Ksq., scetns to have been conneeted -
with Batley. [Yorkshire Fines, vol. I, p. 290..]

AMr. Robert Waterhouse took e personal interest
in the business of the Halifax Manor Court, Anid
thero are many notes on the rolls made and signed

by him.
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The following expoenses inter alia were ineurred
ab his funeral r—- '

/
“Tor the sround in the quire ™ ....l.... 10s,
“Aortuary . e eeitrannns 10s.

Dues to the Curato and “ A penny, caa,lled_
the Head Mass Penny 7 cvvvviiviniiennen 13d.

““ To the Clerk for Burial in the High Quire, =
viz.: for taking up the stones or a
through ™ e ereraeeeene 382 AdL

“Tor the making of the grave and
TINZING 7 3.

“Tor the coffin lid, besides the heavso ... 4d.



